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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
Christine Bake No. CV-13-08169-PCT-DGC
Plaintiff, ORDER
V.

Midland Funding LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

Defendants Midland Funding, LLC amdidland Credit Management, Inc. hav
filed a motion for judgment on the pleadingnd Defendant Bursey & Associates P.
has joined the motionDoc. 23, 26. The motion has bdelly briefed. Docs. 47, 52, 53.

Plaintiff has also filed a nion for leave to amnd her complaint @hto join Equifax

Information Services as a defendant. Doc. Zhat motion has also been fully briefed.

Docs. 37, 38, 48. The Court will grantetimotion for judgment on the pleadings ar
grant the motion to amend with resp to Plaintiff's FCRA claims.
The briefs filed by all of the parties vate this Court's local rule on font sizg
including font size in footnotesSeeLRCiv 7.1(b)(1). The parteeshall comply with this
local rule in all future filings.
l. Background.
On June 11, 201RNefendant Midland Funding LLCMidland”) filed suit against

Plaintiff Christine Baker in Justice Court Kingman, Arizona fo failure to pay an

! The request for oral argument is denieecause the issues have been fu
briefed and oral argument witiot aid the Court’'s decisionSeeFed. R. Civ. P. 78(b);
Partridge v. Reich141 F.3d 920, 926 (9th Cir. 1998).
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June 19, 2012. The parties participatedonrt-ordered mediation on October 16, 2012.

Associates, P.C. Plaintiff alleged miscoodduring the litigation othe debt collection

HSBC credit card. Plaintiff was servedith the summons and complaint o

=]

Baker defended the action bygserting that the claim was barred by the statute| of
limitations. On February 252013, the Justice Coudranted Baker's motion for
summary judgment because #tatute of limitations had rumefore Midland had filed its
claim. Midland did not appeal the ruling.

On June 18, 2013, pro sealliff filed her complaint inthis case in the Justice
Court in Kingman, alleging violations ofhe Fair Debt Collection Practices Agt
(“FDCPA”) by Defendants Midland, Midtad Credit Management, Inc., and Bursey &

action, including filig of an action that Defendarksew or slould have known was
time-barred, as well as provision of falsed misleading information to credit bureays

and the failure of debt collemts to send written informaticabout the alleged debt. Thg

D

case was removed to federal court on July 3, 2013.

[I.  Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.

~—

Defendants move for judgment on pleadipgssuant to Rule 12(c), alleging tha
Plaintiff's FDCPA claims werenot brought within one yeaas required by 15 U.S.C
§ 1692k (d). Defendants cite the recent decisiorLyons v. Michael & AssogGs
2013 WL 4680179 (S.DCal. Aug. 28, 2013), for th@remise that the statute of
limitations begins to run on ¢hdate an offending lawsuit iBled. Doc. 23 at 4.
Defendants argue that because Midlanddfilee underlying lawsuit on June 11, 201p,
and Baker filed the complaim this case on June 18, %) Baker's FDCPA claim is
time-barred.

An FDCPA claim must be brought “within one ge from the date on which the
violation occurs.” 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692k(d).Naas v. Stolman130 F.3d 892, 893
(9th Cir.1997) (one-year statute of limitatidios FDCPA claims began to run on the date
an offending lawsuit was filgd The only exception to thrsile under Ninth Circuit case

law arises when a party is nmtoperly served, in which caseethelevant date is the dat
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the plaintiff discovered or could hawkscovered her cause of actiokee Mangum V.
Action Collection Serv., Inc575 F.3d 935, 940 (9th Cir. 2009). As the Eastern Dist

of California has explained:
Naasonly applies to caseshere there is no quisn that the defendant
was properly named and served in timelerlying collection action. In such
cases, the statute of limitations showldlinarily begin to run upon the
action’s filing. But where the defendant does not receive proper notice in
the course of litigation, then, pbtangum,the statute of limitations begins

to run when the plaintiff “knows ohas reason to know” of the FDCPA
violation.

Huy Thanh Vo v. Nelson & Kennar@31 F. Supp. 2d 1082086 (E.D. Cal. 2013).
Plaintiff filed this complaint on June 12013. Doc. 1-1. The underlying civi
suit, brought by MidlandFunding was filed on June 11022. Although Plaintiff was not
served with the summons andmplaint until June 19, 201fere is no allegation thaf
Plaintiff was not properly served under thdesuof civil procedure. Plaintiff's claim,

therefore, accrued on June 11, 2012 aisldase was not filed within one year.

Plaintiff argues that her complaint ks various post-filing violations of the

FDCPA in the manner in whiddefendants handledehunderlying litigatio. Doc. 47 at
2-6. Many of these post-filingllegations are simply that Defendants pursued the law|
against Plaintiff despite her assertion ttieg lawsuit was without merit — an assertig
that proved to be true whehe Justice Court granted hapotion for summary judgment,
Id. Plaintiff also alleges misconduct by Burs&yAssociates for failte to serve filings
by email despite agreement to do so, and railio respond to a dispositive motior
Id. at 5. Finally, Plaintiff alleges that Def@ant filed a motion for summary judgment i
the underlying lawsuit “knowing that the l@xtion of the debt was NOT based on
written agreement and that the stat of limitations had expired.”Id. Plaintiff's
complaint alleges that thesetions violate 15 U.S.C. 88692e; 1692e(2A); 1692¢e(5)
1692¢e(10); 1692f(1).

The Court does not agree that thesst{hiting litigation actions by Defendants

constitute separate violations of the FDCPAttaxtend the statute of limitations beyor
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the date of filing of the underlying lawisu Under Ninth Cirait law, “[fliling a
complaint is the debt collector’s laspportunity to comply with the Act."Naas 130

F.3d at 893. If the act of filing was Defendgriast opportunity tacomply, it would be

inequitable to simultaneously hold Defendargsponsible under the FDCPA for conduct

after that filing. Defendants’ motion for ggment on the pleadings is granted as
Plaintiffs’ FDCPA claims.
[I.  Motion for Leaveto Amend.

Plaintiff has filed a motion for leave to amd her complaintDoc. 27. Plaintiff
seeks to join Equifax Inforni@an Services (“Equifax”) as defendant, add allegation
supporting her FDCPA claimsgarding Defendants’ behaviduring the course of the
underlying litigation, and add claims unddwxe Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”).
Specifically, Plaintiff seeks to add allegations that Defendants’ counsel acted imprg
in the course of the underlying litigation, disobeying the judgegsliation orders and
failing to serve Plaintiff electronically when asked. Plaintiff also seeks to add allega
that Midland Credit Management, Inc. (“NWC) verified incorrect information with
credit bureau Equifax after Plaintiff had dispditsuch informatiorthat MCM continued
to do so after the filing othis lawsuit, and that Equifarepeatedly reported incorreg
information after Plaintiff had disputed its acacy. Doc. 27-2 at 9-10. Plaintiff asser
that the actions of both Edax and MCM violate the FCRAId. at {70-75.

In response, Defendants assert thatder of Equifax and & addition of FCRA
claims would prejudice them because it wocddise substantial delay in the proceedin
and increased costs. Doc. @87 4. They also assetat the proposed amendmen
impermissibly expand the scope of the litigation, and that they are futile and subjs
dismissal.

A. L egal standard.

Under Ninth Circuit case law, joinder is liberally permittddeague to Save Lake
Tahoe v. Tahoe Rdd?lanning Agency558 F.2d 914, 917 (9%ir. 1997) (“[P]ermissive

joinder is to be construed liberally in orderpromote trial convenience and to exped

to
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the final determination of disputes, thereby preventing multiple lawsuit$iljed Mine

Workers of Am. v. Gibbs883 U.S. 715, 724 (1966) (“der the rules, the impulse is$

toward entertaining the broadest possible saufpaction consistent with fairness to th

parties; joinder of claims, parties and reles is strongly encouraged.”). “Rule 20(

imposes two specific requisites for the joindérparties: (1) a right to relief must be

asserted by, or against, each plaintiff or ddémnt relating to or &ing out of the same
transaction or occurrence; and (2) some qoesif law or fact common to all the partie
will arise in the action.”League to Save Lake Tah&58 F.2d at 91%&ee Desert Empire
Bank v. Ins. Co. of N. Ap623 F.2d 1371, 1375 (9th Cir. 1980).

Similarly, courts are instructed to libflyagrant leave to ameh Rule 15 makes

clear that the Court “should freely give ledt@amend] when justice so requires.” Fef.

R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2). The policy in favor of leave to ahenust not only be heedeske
Foman v. Davis371 U.S. 178, 182 (82), it must be applied with extreme liberalitge
Owens v. Kaiser Found. Health Plan, In244 F.3d 708, 880 {® Cir. 2001). This

liberality “is not dependenbn whether the amendmentiliwadd causes of action of

parties.” DCD Programs, Ltd. v. Leighton833 F.2d 183, 186 (9th Cir. 1987).

Generally, “this determination should berfpemed with all inferences in favor of
granting the motion.” Griggs v. Pace Am. Group, Incl70 F.3d 877, 880 (9th Cir
1999).

Additionally, in the Ninth Circuit, pr se litigants are entitled to notice of
complaint’s deficiencies andn opportunity to amend prido dismissal of the action
unless it is absolutely clearahthe deficiencies of the emlaint could not be cured by
amendment. See Lucas v. Dep’t of Coyr66 F.3d 245, 248 (9th Cir. 1995ato v.
United States70 F.3d 1103, 110@®th Cir. 1995);see also Flowers v. First Hawaiiar
Bank 295 F.3d 966, 976 (9th ICi2002) (“We are very cautis in approving a district
court’s decision to deny pro se liéigts leave to amend.”) (citingicas 66 F.3d at 248-
49); Waters v. Youngl00 F.3d 14371441 (9th Cir. 1996) (“Asa general matter, this

court has long sought to sure that pro se litigants dwot unwittingly fall victim to
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procedural requirements that they may, vatime assistance frometltourt, be able to
satisfy.”).

Despite this strong presiption, amendmentwill not be allowed if doing so
would (1) cause prejudice toelopposing party(2) the amendments are sought in b
faith, (3) the proposed amendnis are futile; or (4) amendment creates undue de
Yakama Indian Nation v. Stabf Wash. Dep't of Revenu&'6 F.3d 1241, 46 (9th Cir.
1999) (citingMartinez v. Newport Beach City25 F.3d 777, 788th Cir.1997)).

B. Analysis.

1. Bad faith.

Defendants argue that “Plaintiff’'s it motive and timing of this delayed
Motion for Leave to amend . . .t circumvent the law.” Do@7 at 2. Tkre is no basis
for this assertion.

Plaintiff filed her motion to amend be®the 30-day deadknthe Court set for
joining parties, amendingleadings, and filing supplem&h pleadings. Doc. 22.
Plaintiff then filed a requedbr extension of time to respond to Defendants’ motion
judgment on the pleadings, which the Court tgdn Docs. 30, 35Plaintiff was ordered
to file her response on or before NovemB®&y 2013, and she did. Doc. 47. The Col
does not find evidence of bad faith whdr&intiff has met all filing deadlines ang
Defendants assert no other grounds for bad faith.

2. Undue delay and preudice.

Defendants claim that they will be prejudiced by amendment of Plaint
complaint because the amendineiil cause substantial delay and require the Court
re-issue its case management order.

The Ninth Circuit has made clear that “undue delay by itself is insufficien
justify denying a motion to amend.Owens v. Kaiser Foud. Health Plan, In¢.244 F.3d
708, 712-13 (9th Cir. 2001) (quotingowles v. Readel98 F.3d 757, 758 (9th Cir
1999)); see DCD Programs, Ltd833 F.2d at 187 (same). “Only where prejudice

shown or the movant acts in bad faith are toprotecting the judicial system or othg
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litigants when they deny leavo amend a pleading.”United States v. Wepb55 F.2d
977, 980 (9th Cir. 1981) (quotingowey v. United Stated481 F.2d 1187, 1191 (9th Cir
1973));see Eminence Capitdl.C v. Aspeon, Inc316 F.3d 1048, B2 (9th Cir. 2003)

MM

(“Prejudice is the ‘touchstone of the inquimgder rule 15(a).™) (citation omitted).
Defendantsasserthat the added delay will orease costs, citingaplan v. Rose

49 F.3d 1363, 1370 (9th Cir. 1994), for twemise that added expense contributes t
finding of prejudice. ButKaplan concerned a situation in which parties had alres
engaged in “voluminous armurotracted discovery.ld. This is not the case here. Othg
than Defendants’ blanket and generally aggilie statement that “as a case lengthens,
costs and expenses necessanigrease” (Doc. 37 at)4 Defendants have made n
showing that litigation in this case has bservoluminous or proécted that Defendants

will be prejudiced.
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Defendants also argue that the act of simply adding a party is an indicafor

prejudice. This misstates Ninth Circuit lawhe threat of prejudice to which the Cou
must be sensitive when a party iglad to a case is prejudice to #meringparty, not to
those already in the lawsuitDCD Programs, Ltd.833 F.2d at 187. As the Court i

DCD Programsnoted, “[ajmending a complaint to addoarty poses an especially acute

threat of prejudice to the enteg party. Ergo, this court Batated, “[a]voiding prejudice
to the party to be added thus becomes our major objective.”Defendants have madj
no showing that Equifax is prejudicég its joinder to this suit.

3. Expansion of the scope of litigation.

Defendants next argue that the praggbsmendment impermissibly expands t
scope of litigation and damagyevolved. Doc. 37 at 5-6. The Court disagrees.

The addition of new claims in an angeal complaint is not, alone, cause
prohibit amendmentld. at 186 (liberality “is not depelent on whether the amendme
will add causes of action or parties”). Prepggdmay arise when new theories require
party to re-litigate issues or significandiiter the circumstances of the litigatiodackson
v. Bank of Hawaji902 F.2d 1385, 138®th Cir. 1990).
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Although Defendants argue that PlaintifF€RA claims are completely unrelate
to her original claims and that Plaintiff now seeks significantly more damages, Plair]
FCRA claims arise from circumstances allegedher original complat. For example,
at 1 31 Plaintiff alleged th&MCM reported and continues t@port on alleged debt tg
credit bureau Equifax.” Doc. 1-1. Additidha Plaintiff sought punitive damages in he
original complaint. Doc. 1-1 at 10.

4, Futility.

“[A] proposed amendment is futile onlynb set of facts cabe proved under the
amendment to the pleadingbat would constitute a valid and sufficient claim (
defense.” Miller v. Rykoff-Sexton, Inc.845 F.2d 209, 214 (9th Cir. 1988pCD

Programs, Ltd.833 F.2d at 186 (stating that “a nawtito make an ‘[ajmendment is to be

liberally granted where from the underlyingt® or circumstances, the plaintiff may b
able to state a claim™) (quotinylcCartin v. Norton 674 F.2d 13171321 (9th Cir.
1982)). Because the Court hdstermined that the statute of limitations on Plaintiff
FDCPA claims began to run at the time ibh§ the underlying suit and that those clain
are therefore time-barred, any additiondégations to the FDCPA claims would b
futile.

Plaintiff has also asserted claims untiee FCRA. Defendants argue that the
amendments are futile because Plaintiff iog@rly combines claims and allegations
violation of Rule 10(b), whitc requires that “separate cassof action or claims arg

supposed to be stated separately.” [D®¢.at 6. But Plaintiff's amended complair

complies with this requirementPlaintiff clearly articulateder causes of action in the

amended complaint, and lists those made under the FCRA at {70-75.
Defendants argue that the amended comiptemife with conclusory allegations,

formulaic recitations of the elements tife proposed causes of action, and lengt

statements of vague and irrelavéacts,” thus failing to medederal pleading standards.

Doc. 37 at 7. But Plaintiffomplaint cites specific praions of the FCRA and her
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allegations are supported by facts in which alleges false representations and deceptive
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practices by MCM and Equifax. Doc. 27-249¥52, 71-73. Plaintiff identifies Equifax
as an entity subject to suitder the FCRA and cites the spgecprovision of the FCRA
that supports thigd. at 13, and she also identifiegsific provisions of the FCRA that
MCM and Equifax have violatedd. at f171-73. Defendants have failed to articul
how these allegations are futile.

IT ISORDERED:

1. Defendant’s motion for judgment on the pleadings (Doc. ag)histed.

2. Plaintiff's motion for leave to aamd the complaintred motion for joinder
of Equifax InformationServices (Doc. 27) igranted with respect to Plaintiffs FCRA
claims. Plaintiff may file ammended complaint on or befdfebruary 21, 2014.

Dated this 30th day of January, 2014.

Nalb Corttt

David G. Campbell
United States District Judge
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